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    INTRODUCTION




    “Is life so dear, or peace so sweet as to be purchased at the price of chains and slavery? Forbid it, Almighty God! I know not what course others may take; but as for me, give me liberty or give me death!”




    – Patrick Henry March 23 1775


    


    


    





    All wars are ugly, civil wars probably the worst of them – father against son, brother against brother, neighbor against neighbor, friend against friend, town against town...




    Long years of desperate, grinding struggle among players just like these marked the American Civil War – the War Between the States – each side determined as only deep-rooted nationalism (or sectionalism, as was the case in the 1861-65 conflict) can make men determined, each side with its cause, locked inextricably, murderously together in an epic, Darwinian bloodletting, complete with every grisly entree on the menu of modern warfare: head-to-head clashes of powerful armies fighting to the death on horizon-to-horizon battlefields; endless siege warfare, complete with the disease, privation and wasting-away that always accompanies it; cities burnt to cinders or slow-bombed to rubble-piles in a wanton, almost casual way; war by snorting, clanking, hideous-looking rusty iron sea-monsters heaving virtual rivers of searing metal at each other and at the land, and the people on it; sudden, violent death striking without warning from beneath dark oceans; the rise of butchering, incompetent generals, not just here and there, but in great gaggles and flocks, everywhere; revolutionary developments in guerrilla warfare; incredible stories of carefully-calculated spying and sabotage; lightning land and sea raids bringing stark terror to formerly pastoral countrysides; the callous, continuous rape of the environment; dismal prisons where Americans of accomplishment and potential were slowly starved to death or were quickly scythed down by diseases for which there was no doctor, no medicine, and no cure; introduction of ultra-modern weapons, like rapid-fire small arms, electric and land mines, balloons, trains, camouflage, telegraphy and ciphers brought to the fore so as to enable the taking of men’s lives wholesale and quicker; and underneath it all, an unrelenting and ever-escalating psy-war, continuously leveraged by each side against the other – the idea of ‘total war’ creeping slowly, churlishly for the first time in history into the minds of men, some of it still clearly seen today in clutches of cracked and yellowed old museum photos or scratchy glass negatives showing its participants – apprehension, excitement and only the tiniest kernel of fear in the eyes of a young soldier in a shadowy, run-down photographic studio, a half-grin starting on his lips (but his knuckles striped white as his hand grips the hilt of a dull-edged prop sword); a thin-lipped bright-eyed old woman of 20 or so, her arms clutched tight about herself as she sits in gray winter light on a long, weathered-wood verandah, a pale, staring – hungry – child at her elbow; a ragged young ex-slave cocking his head nervously, blinking at the black-hooded cameraman who, chronicling his freedom, gives him immortality; and the deep hurt and unspeakable angst ill-concealed in the bottomless dark eyes of a black-clad president...




    While the desperate, earth-shaking combats on the northern (and western) battlefields quickly placed a chokehold on much of the world’s prime newspaper space, the attention of both sides on the South Coast settled down to the grim two-front fight they had started, each driven by that deep, gnawing inner hankering to show up a dogged, determined blood-enemy, and the sooner it could happen the better.




    Two raging fronts, yes: Charleston, the Cradle of the Southern Rebellion, must stand, must fall – take your choice. And then the other front – the dark and bloody death-struggle that exploded down along the quiet salt creeks and across the whispering green marshes, the alluring, pine and oak-shrouded islands and wide, Atlantic-gray tide-rivers of the South Coast.




    With the Confederacy ever on the defensive and navy-less, the coastal war was born of and always remained a part of that desperate craving for payback on the part of Union commanders and administrators. Triggered initially by a gut-ripping Yankee desire to whip the wealthy, arrogant Charleston bluebloods, the selfsame mock-Shintoist, ancestor-worshiping Secesh radicals who had humiliated them so roundly and completely before the world in 1861, the coastal fighting took on its own methodical eye-for-an-eye character, slowly spreading like a tipped-over carboy of the vilest poison, searing and bubbling madly across three states, in the end tapping wellsprings of deepest hatred and fanaticism.




    Any account of the coastal war must of course consider the drawn-out Gotterdammerung played out during the course of the endless Battle of Charleston (it cannot rightly be called a siege, since the city was never invested, only abandoned in the final days).




    This presentation attempts to do that, keying on occurrences in Charleston as they affected or were affected by the coastal war to rack the focus on the astonishing series of events which unfolded in what the Yankees named the Department of the South between 1861 and 1865, the “Time When Big Gun Shoot,” as the Gullah people called it, which only ended when crazy-like-a-fox old “Uncle Billy” Sherman came in massive, crushing force, with his leathery, seamed face, his tousled red hair, beaked nose, and wild, never-sleeping eyes, to mutter and growl to himself as he tugged at his whiskers and buttons, sucking at his ropy cheroots, blustering through the streets and parks of the pretty little towns his 62,000 bummers had finally ripped away from the enemy by storm.




    Could it have ended sooner – or differently?




    The fighting at the “Holy City” was never decisive – but it could have been.




    Say there had been a breakthrough across the Coosaw River at any time by Department of the South troops with strength and leadership enough to seize and hold a railhead on the Savannah-Charleston line – something often urged by the smarter Yankee generals.




    It would have meant immediate disaster for Robert E. Lee’s embattled Army of Northern Virginia – legions of Blueback soldiers, moving in by steam transport from Hilton Head and Beaufort as their replacements poured in on ships from Hampton Roads and points north. With luck and skill and numbers, they more than likely could have reinforced the railhead, built a spur across the eight miles of swamp between Boyd’s Landing and the existing tracks, then spread up and down the line on rolling stock brought in by sea, pillaging the country, possibly capturing Savannah or Charleston or both from landward, then seizing more and more track northward, setting up strong points as they advanced closer and closer to the rear of the Confederate Army...




    Or say the Confederates could have broken the Blockade (and much hot Rebel blood was stirred in January 1863 when it was claimed the two Southern ironclads CSS Chicora and Palmetto State had done just that, briefly routing the US fleet in a middle-of-the-night firefight off Charleston bar), the South would have achieved a psychological victory of equal or superior magnitude to that of First Manassas, along with increased or at least less-inhibited commerce, and depending on the time it was done (up until June of 1863, pre-Gettysburg), possibly some foreign recognition or even intervention, that constant will-o-the-wisp Confederate goal. But neither happened. And the trains ran and the Blue and Gray soldiers marched and the ships steamed and the dead men stacked up in windrows right up until the galling end, Dixie taking blow after brutal blow, like an aging prizefighter with a heart of oak, but drained of strength in the late rounds with a brash young champion, its food-producing lands either taken by the enemy or forced to stand idle and barren, its crops burned or just un-harvested, seas and rivers closed to its commerce, its railroad net spiraling – gradually at first, then quickly – downhill as rolling stock fell apart and both sides raced to claw the track out of the ground, resulting in half-rations for barefoot Confederate soldiers in the lines while mountains of food and hides rotted in supply dumps just a few miles down the shiny rails...




    This, historians say, as much as any Antietam or Gettysburg – or Appomattox – marked the death -throes of the Southern Confederacy...




    As a new nation, the Confederacy found itself in an odd position. Its leadership said it was fighting to maintain ‘rights,’ but in order to exist, its people had to go through incredible, unthinkable change.




    The civilian leadership – essentially a band of cronies who fell out with each other early in the war – embargoed their own cotton at the beginning of the fighting, when full-value cotton could have bought millions in munitions, possibly even a small navy. The South’s leaders were to introduce conscription and impressments of property, from the slaves themselves to rail and ship cargo space. It was a leadership that suspended the Writ of Habeas Corpus and expropriated many a private industry. It crudely attempted to ‘manage’ news. It failed largely to provide in any meaningful way for its fighting men and continued to foolishly waste their lives after the facts were spelled out in ankle-deep blood along the Sunken Road near Antietam Creek those balmy September days of 1862.




    (Some history books list Antietam, or Sharpsburg, as the battle is often called in the South, as a victory for the Confederates, citing Union General George McClellan’s fumbling and hesitant tactics. But the fact is that General Robert E. Lee was retreating when he arrived at Antietam Creek, and he was retreating when he left, with his forces then reduced by one-third. Several thousand other Rebel soldiers had deserted en route to Sharpsburg, most of them from the Carolinas, saying they would fight to defend Dixie, but not mount attacks on what they thought of as Southern soil – Maryland. Antietam showed the South was not philosophically unified, nor could Southern forces defeat the Yankees in an offensive campaign on enemy soil, then occupy that soil, a prerequisite for victory in any conflict.)




    For the record, the Lincoln administration, in seizing the national telegraphic network as it did in 1862, also made an attempt to control the spread of information. Disastrous news was also hidden or softened for Northern readers, a case in point being the failure of the federal ironclad fleet’s all-out attack in Charleston harbor on April 7 1863. And the Writ of Habeas Corpus was also suspended in Maryland, secessionist legislators and demagogues locked up indefinitely...




    The South entered the war in 1861 with less than $30 million as a gold reserve. By just printing paper money, it held out against four-to-one odds for four years, in the end the authority of the Confederate nation traveling only on the glistening bayonets of Lee’s battered and shrinking army, more than $ l.5 billion in ‘shinplasters’ blowing up and down the streets of the South’s devastated towns by the early days of Spring 1865.




    The South had some advantages at the outset. The Confederate government was as well organized, if not better organized than the Union’s, which had just been voted into the hands of inexperienced Republicans. Confederate soldiers defended along interior lines with inferior, but adequate rail links at the start. Both Britain and France, along with many people in the North, seemed disposed at the beginning to let the Southerners have their independence.




    When fighting began, about 300,000 of the four or five million white Southerners owned slaves, about 100,000 of those holding ten or more slaves.




    This tiny oligarchy had historically supplied almost 100 percent of the South’s state and federal lawmakers, judges, bankers, administrators, and controlled courthouse patronage in much of the region. The Confederate soldier’s oft-repeated saying was rooted in the truth: “Rich man’s war, poor man’s fight.” Only white men over the age of 21 who could or would pay the poll tax were allowed to vote in most Southern states.




    Historians estimate that about 10 percent of the white Southerners remained loyal to the United States, either in thought or deed. If it is assumed that most of the slave population favored US rather than Confederate rule, then it can quickly be seen that the South entered the war with more than half its population opposed to Confederate victory, a gravely serious obstacle in and of itself. (There is no question that many slaves remained loyal, if not to the idea of a Confederacy, at least to their masters, who supported and fought for it.) The Rebel armies won about half the set battles in the war. In fact, the Butternut phalanxes were still winning at Honey Hill – and Doctortown – in the balmy, golden days of late Fall 1864, when the tramp of Sherman’s combat veterans could be heard to the west...


  




  

    The War Prayer




    BY MARK TWAIN




    O Lord our Father our young patriots, idols of our hearts, go forth to battle – be thou near them!...O Lord our God help us to tear their soldiers to bloody shreds with our shells; help us to cover their smiling fields with the pale forms of their patriot dead; help us to drown the thunder of their guns with the shrieks of their wounded, writhing in pain; help us to lay waste their humble homes with a hurricane of fire; help us to wring the hearts of their unoffending widows with unavailing grief...For our sake, who adore Thee Lord, blast their hopes, blight their lives, protract their bitter pilgrimage, make heavy their steps, water their way with tears, stain the white snow with the blood of their wounded feet! We ask it in the spirit of Love of Him who is the ever-faithful refuge and friend of all who are sore beset and seek His aid with humble and contrite hearts. Amen.


    





    written 1904, published posthumously in


    Harper’s Weekly November 1916


  




  

    CHAPTER ONE


    Why? A Gold-Headed Cane, Bleeding Kansas, and the ‘Provisional Army’




    “To prepare for war demands, then, exercise of the imagination.”




    – Giulio Douhet, European strategist


    


    


    





    What caused the Civil War – The War of Southern Rebellion – The War Between the States?




    That simple question, uttered countless times since April 1861, all the way from the halls of Congress to thousands of dusty courthouse back rooms to a nation’s small town classrooms, church-halls, busy dinner-tables and in the hushed and packed forums of the world’s great universities, evokes many answers depending on where and of whom it is asked.




    The root long-term causes and run-up to the war are outside the scope of this presentation, but a short answer can be supplied: slavery, the Old South’s ‘peculiar institution,’ the hideous and long-standing practice of as Abraham Lincoln put it: “one man wringing his bread from the sweat of another man’s brow.”




    Slavery caused the death of more than 620,000 Americans between 1861 and 1865.




    The cotton economy grew rapidly after 1800, as Eli Whitney’s gins began to appear across the South. Cotton required many hands to harvest and handle. More gins meant more slaves. Inefficient methods and the fact that a cotton crop tended to ‘tire’ the land caused the rapid spread of slavery westward, to Texas.




    In January 1831 a new abolitionist newspaper, The Liberator, made its appearance. Its editor, a Massachusetts man named William Lloyd Garrison, warned slaveholders in the initial edition that if bondage was not soon ended, the slaves would rise against their masters and drench the South in blood.




    In August that year, Nat Turner, a Virginia slave, led a bloody uprising, killing 57 whites, all plantation owners and their families.




    A sadistic act of violence occurred in the US Senate Chamber in May of 1856, driving a wedge between North and South, Republican and Democrat.




    At the time Kansas Territory was in turmoil. People there were to be allowed to vote whether or not to come into the Union as a free or slave state. “Popular Sovereignty,” it was called. Though relatively far from the Deep South, the slave-holding state of Missouri flanked Kansas’ eastern border.




    Pro-slavery toughs, called ‘Border Ruffians,’ determined to see bondage perpetuated in the contemplated new state, swarmed across the border in evil-minded droves, beating Kansas settlers, destroying crops, running off livestock, occasionally besieging towns and stuffing ballot boxes in territorial elections when and where they could. “I went to Kansas to kill snakes,” said one of them.




    Meanwhile, so-called Emigrant Aid societies in the North, primarily the New England states, pushed their own abolitionist views in Kansas, helping settlers from their area settle across the territory, hoping to propagate and foster the spread of anti-slavery views and positions – and votes.




    With the assistance of the Ruffians, pro-slave interests won early territorial elections. Immediately afterward, the anti-slavery forces called a convention, in 1855. They wanted to draw up a state constitution and apply straightaway for admission to the Union as a free state – a development which, if allowed to happen, would threaten Southern power in the US Senate.




    Debate in Congress about Kansas was acrimonious and bitter. In May of 1856, Massachusetts Senator Charles Sumner give his now-famous “Crime Against Kansas” speech, in which he derided hard-line pro-slavery interests in the state of South Carolina, lambasting one of that state’s senators, the meek-appearing, quiet, courtly senior solon Senator Andrew Butler, making allusions to Butler’s allegorical ‘dusky mistress,’ slavery.




    Shortly thereafter, Sumner was attacked with a gold-headed cane on the floor of the Senate by South Carolina Congressman Preston Brooks, a relative of the elderly Butler.




    Brooks later said “I gave him about 30 first-rate stripes. Toward the end, he bellowed like a calf.” Not long thereafter, Brooks resigned his seat in the House of Representatives in order to give his constituents a chance to register their feelings on the matter. He was re-elected in a landslide the following November.




    Brooks became a hero all across the South, the recipient of many ‘replacement’ canes (his had shattered into small bits during the attack.) Brooks died not long after. Friends said his last words were that he was sorry he had become the idol of bullies all across the South...




    But in the North, reaction to this violence was outraged horror, crystallizing feelings both against the mindset of the South and against perpetuation of slavery, confirming deep-rooted, long-held Yankee suspicions.




    Amid the fevered excitement of the Brooks-Sumner Affair began the campaign of ‘56, pitting Democrat candidate James Buchanan against Republican John C. Fremont, the fabled western ‘Pathfinder’ as he was nicknamed by his admirers. “He had every attribute of genius except ability,” said commentator Josiah Royce about Fremont.




    What was left of the Whig Party, aided by the fringe ‘Know-Nothing’ Party nominated ex-president Millard Fillmore, who showed a distant third.




    When all the counting was done, Buchanan was the winner, but the combined vote for Fillmore and Fremont far exceeded Buchanan’s total.




    During the campaign, Buchanan voiced support for the Popular Sovereignty idea. To the South, the doctrine meant that at least until the question of slavery in a given territory was settled, that slavery was to be prima facie accepted anywhere in that territory, including the right of resident or outside slave owners to take slaves anywhere they wished in that territory.




    When Buchanan – Old Buck as he was called – was elected, the Dred Scott case had already been before the US Supreme Court for several years. Two days after his inaugural, the Court issued its decision.




    Dred Scott was a slave in Missouri. His master took him to Illinois, a free state, then on to Wisconsin, then a territory. Some years after his master brought him back to Missouri, he sued for his freedom, basing his claim on the fact that he had lived in both a free state and a territory.




    The case took ten years to crawl through the courts. At the time of the decision, the Supreme Court was made up of mostly Democrat appointees, headed by Chief Justice Roger B. Taney.




    Five of the nine members were Southerners, Taney himself from Maryland, a slave state.




    Taney wrote that Scott, as a slave, was not a US citizen, and had no rights which could be recognized by a US court. Taney could have stopped writing at that point, but he pressed on. He said that Scott’s time outside Missouri gave him no claim to freedom because Congress had no power to forbid slavery in any territory.




    Slaves were chattel – property – and no citizen could be deprived of property without due process of law. Depriving a citizen in a territory would thus be a denial of Constitutional rights.




    The decision had the effect of seeking to take from Congress the duty or obligation of legislating for citizens in the territories – something Congress had done for about 70 years at that time. By implication, it also meant that if Congress had no right to interfere with slavery in the territories, it had no right to pass on that power to anyone else (namely the people in those territories.)




    Southerners were jubilant! The ‘institution’ of slavery was now protected anywhere the American flag was flying! Republicans sniped at the individuals making up the Court rather than at the Court as a whole, but animosity grew dramatically between Democrat and Republican...




    In 1857, a new constitutional convention met in Lecompton, Kansas, boycotted by the anti-slavery elements in the territory. The pro-slavery faction drew up its own constitution for the state. Now the territorial voters were presented with the choice of accepting the pro-slavery constitution with or without a provision for the further introduction of slavery. This meant that the institution of slavery as it then existed, was to stay, whatever the outcome of the vote on the constitution. Anti-slavery forces boycotted the vote and the Lecompton constitution was adopted and sent to Congress along with the application for statehood. But when the next territorial elections were held, the anti-slavery contingent turned out in force and their candidates won large majorities everywhere. The Lecompton constitution was ultimately put to a popular vote and roundly defeated. Now the territorial legislature was in anti-slavery control, yet a pro-slavery constitution awaited confirmation in Washington.




    Southerners in Washington had President Buchanan’s ear. He recommended the adoption of the Lecompton constitution, which then went before the Senate and House for endless, fiery debate.




    The Senate finally voted in favor of the Lecompton document, but the House passed a version of acceptance only if it was approved by a popular vote in Kansas.




    That vote was held, the Lecompton constitution was tossed out forever, and Kansas entered the Union as a free state after South Carolina seceded.




    *   *   *




    Things on the national scene were slammed into high gear in October of 1859, thanks to a leather-faced, steel-eyed, stentorian-voiced Kansas Jayhawker named John Brown, who, with a motley squad of followers, attacked the US arsenal town of Harper’s Ferry, Virginia (now West Virginia.)




    Some say the word ‘Jayhawker’ entered the American lexicon thanks to a lanky, grinning, Kansas Irishman named Pat Devlin. Pat returned home to Kansas one day after a long ‘ramble’ as he called it, in Missouri, his pack-horse staggering under a heavy load. A crowd of locals gathered. Pat began fielding questions about the loot, some people recognizing things that had earlier been taken from them by Border Ruffians and were now back in front of their eyes again.




    The glib Irishman said “In Ireland we had a jay hawk that just took things. I suppose my horse has acquired the habits of that bird.”1




    ‘Old’ John Brown as most people called him, was born in 1800. He first saw the light of day in Torrington, Connecticut. When he was young, his family moved to Ohio. His father, Owen Brown, a deeply religious man, taught the boy that slavery was a serious sin against God.




    When John was 12, his father accepted a contract to provide beef to US soldiers fighting the British in Canada during the War of 1812 from bases in Michigan – more than 100 miles from the family’s home. He assigned John to the task of rounding up the wild cattle that roamed the area’s fields and woodlands, then – by himself – driving the herd northward for sale to the Army.




    The boy later said he was appalled by his initial contact with the soldiers, his customers. He said he despised their slovenliness, laxity, drinking, and use of foul language...




    On one of his cattle drives, the young drover stayed overnight with a man who owned slaves, one of them a Negro boy about John’s own age. John Brown said he saw the slave boy beaten with a fireplace shovel that night.




    He also saw that the lad was poorly fed and dressed in rags. He said he never forgot the child’s screams as he took his ‘punishment.’ (Some historians have questioned this, saying it would have been difficult to find a slave-owner living this far north at this late date.)




    When Brown returned to Ohio, he was a confirmed, determined abolitionist. He later went back to Connecticut, to Litchfield this time, to continue his schooling.




    At the time Litchfield was one of the nation’s hotbeds of abolition. It was the birthplace of author Harriet Beecher Stowe, whose 1852 novel “Uncle Tom’s Cabin” would whip worldwide passion to fever-pitch against the Southern slaveholders, helping in its own dramatic way to trigger the cataclysmic war that was to come...




    Brown was hoping to become a minister during his time at Litchfield, but soon ran out of tuition money and developed a problem with his eyes.
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      JOHN BROWN:


      The abolitionist activist, raided Harper’s Ferry in 1859.


    




    He returned to Ohio, marrying not long thereafter and becoming something of a drifter, moving his ever-increasing family (he fathered 20 children by two wives) through the states of Ohio, New York, Massachusetts, and Pennsylvania, all the while working at different jobs. He tried surveying, went back into the cattle business, opened a tannery, attempted to be a broker of wool, speculated in real estate, and worked for awhile as a small town postmaster. But he never forgot his goal: ending slavery in the United States. He called the US Constitution a ‘pact with the Devil.’




    In 1819, there were 22 states in the Union, 11 slave and 11 free. Then Missouri applied for statehood. This would give pro-slavery forces two more seats in the US Senate. After extended debate, it was decided to admit Missouri as a slave state and Maine as a free state, preserving the existing balance. This was called the Missouri Compromise. The Compromise also banned slavery above Latitude 36-degrees by 30-degrees.




    Southerners accepted the Compromise, but were unhappy – they felt that people in all states or territories should be allowed to decide for themselves. Thomas Jefferson criticized the Compromise, saying it would only hasten the day when America would split into two nations.




    In the 1850’s five of John Brown’s sons moved to Kansas and joined the free-soilers. As Border Ruffian raids increased, they appealed to their father for help. In Spring 1855, Brown, a son-in-law, Henry Thompson, and another son, Oliver, moved to ‘Bleeding Kansas’ as it was being called at the time, plunging immediately into the dispute. Brown named himself commander of the ‘Liberty Guards,’ a half-drilled Jayhawker military unit he had formed.




    When pro-slave forces looted and burned the town of Lawrence, Kansas in the Spring of 1856, around the time of the Sumner-Brooks Affair, as it came to be called, something snapped inside of Old John Brown. He took four of his sons and three ‘followers’ out along Pottawatomie Creek to Dutch Henry’s Crossing near Mosquito Creek late one evening, an area he knew to be populated by pro-slavery men.




    Quietly knocking on farmhouse doors, Brown and his men removed five farmers from their homes and hacked them to death with broadswords along the creekbed. One man’s arms were cut off.




    Brown shot two of them in the forehead with a small pistol he had brought along. He said he never felt he had done wrong that bloody night, that he was merely the tool of Providence striking down the enemies of God. He told the family members of his victims that he and his men were with the “Army of the North”.




    One of the victims was a Catholic from Tennessee with five sons. He said he had brought his family to Kansas so his sons could participate in a free economy, get good jobs and provide for their families. Brown said he didn’t like the man’s Tennessee drawl. After this, the newspapers called the old man ‘Pottawatomie Brown.’




    Still bloodstained from the Pottawatomie murders, Brown arrived at the ‘fort’ of his close friend and fellow Jayhawker James Montgomery.
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      JAMES MONTGOMERY:


      Friend of John Brown who became a coastal raid leader.


    




    Brown always said Montgomery was a ‘man to his liking,’ also calling him a ‘very intelligent, kind, gentlemanly and most excellent man and lover of freedom.’




    Montgomery’s place was about five miles west of Mound City, which was itself about ten miles from the Missouri border. Montgomery was relaxing inside his ‘fort’ one night in the early 1850’s when he was beset by Border Ruffians, who circled the place, shooting into the windows most of the night. Montgomery, his wife Clarinda, and his children were forced to lie on the floor to avoid getting hit. In 1855, the Ruffians were back, this time flaming Montgomery’s home after rousting him and his family outside, where they were forced to watch the fire take everything they owned.




    Montgomery, a part-time preacher, became known after that as an abolitionist firebrand with a ruthless mindset similar to that of his good friend, John Brown.
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      JIM LANE:


      The Grim Chieftain, Kansas Jayhawker leader.


    




    Brown was also friends with the notorious demagogue James M. Lane (“The Grim Chieftain”) who had once been lieutenant-governor of Indiana, but had been drawn like a shark to the running blood in Kansas. Lane organized his own private army – called the Redlegs – and began a series of merciless Jayhawker night raids into Missouri, burning homes, shooting suspected pro-slavery settlers, running off livestock. Lane was elected Senator from Kansas in 1860.




    Lane dressed in overalls, a calfskin vest and a heavy bearskin coat he wore summer and winter. He was said to be “sad, dim-eyed and bad-toothed, with the face of a harlot.”




    When Brown showed up shortly after the Pottawatomie killings, Montgomery invited the old man to move his followers into his, Montgomery’s ‘fort,’ but Brown declined, saying that it would put too many abolitionists together in one spot, making an inviting target for the Ruffians.




    Instead, he built his own dugout nearby.




    Brown left Kansas in late Summer of 1856, returning East to raise funds from the cartel of six wealthy northeastern abolitionist businessmen and philanthropists who supported his loud calls for action against the slave owners.




    

      [image: ]




      THOMAS W. HIGGINSON:


      Boston writer and teacher, later Georgia raid commander.


    




    Collectively known as the ‘Secret Six,’ one of the group’s members was Thomas Wentworth Higginson, the famous New England clergyman, poet and educator. 2




    In the Summer of 1858, Montgomery tried to burn the town of Fort Scott, Kansas, but was caught in the act and driven off.




    In the Fall of 1861, in the wake of a retreating Confederate army, a raiding party led by Lane and Montgomery attacked and burned the town of Osceola, Missouri, about 50 miles east of Fort Scott, robbing the town’s banks and stores, razing homes, shooting and killing 15 townspeople in the streets, and taking off about 200 slaves.




    Both Higginson and Montgomery will return to the pages of our story, each playing major roles in what was to become the coastal war. Lane reappears as well, though he never actually came South.




    For the nonce, however, back to Brown and his unwavering, sleepwalker’s march into history.




    The old man’s attack on the US Arsenal at Harper’s Ferry evolved from a plan he had apparently been carrying within himself for a long time. Brown had a thing about mountains. He had observed that, down through history, mountain fastnesses had often helped the few resist the many.




    He appeared to believe that he could strip the US Arsenal of its millions of dollars worth of arms, disappear into the Blue Ridge, and use the newspapers (the only press at the time) to get the word out to the South’s slaves that freedom and weapons awaited them at the top of the mountain ridges and cliffs. He had spent considerable time studying military history, even journeying to Belgium at one point so as to walk across the great battlefield at Waterloo, carefully observing terrain and comparing French, British and Prussian tactics and strategy.




    *   *   *




    He picked the Harper’s Ferry locale because it had everything he thought he needed: arms, mountains, what seemed to him like a large slave population nearby, big newspapers close at hand in Washington, Baltimore and Philadelphia, and – best of all – it was only 40 miles from free Pennsylvania, whence he hoped to immediately begin sending families of freed slaves while the men stayed at his side to press the fight for freedom.




    Brown apparently began seriously recruiting men for his mission in late Fall 1857, telling a group of seven young abolitionists who joined him at Tabor, Iowa that their ‘destination’ was the State of Virginia.




    After his fund-raising trip to New England, Brown called a meeting of his adherents on May 8 1858 in Chatham, Ontario, Canada. Besides his own rag-tag group, 34 free blacks attended his meeting, among them Dangerfield Newby, 43 at the time, an ex-slave whose Scots father had freed him, and who was working in Canada as a printer, and Osborn P. “Chatham” Anderson, a member of a still-unnamed, still- mysterious black militant group based in Canada.




    Brown told the assemblage he was going to strike at the South. He said his attack would be followed by a general uprising of the slaves all over the region, but that not only slaves, but free Negroes all over the United States and Canada – and the world – would rally to him. He said if resistance to his plans developed, he hoped first to defeat the Virginia militia which he was certain would be sent against him, then to turn on the troops of the United States.




    What the old man didn’t know – or probably didn’t care about – was that the total number of slaves in the six counties immediately around Harper’s Ferry was less than 18,000, including about 5,000 men. The land and climate of that northern edge of Virginia couldn’t sustain a cotton-based economy.




    It was an area of small farms, tobacco and apples two of the more popular crops, many of the people working at the busy arms plants in the town, most of the area’s slaves well-treated house servants or farm labor.




    Brown’s conventioneers approved a “Provisional Constitution and Ordinances for the People of the United States” to serve as the law while Brown’s ‘army’ – he called it the “Provisional Army” or sometimes still the “Army of the North –” installed a new American government, one that would explicitly ban slavery.




    Brown was then elected “Commander in Chief “ of the force, and the convention adjourned, Brown’s recruits returning to their jobs while awaiting the old man’s call to arms.




    *   *   *




    The US government purchased a 125-acre tract at Harper’s Ferry, at a point where the Potomac and Shenandoah Rivers converge, in 1796, calling the property the United States Armory and Arsenal at Harper’s Ferry, its official name, the two US-run facilities being across the street from each other. By 1810, the facilities were turning out about 10,000 rifles per year. By 1859 there were more than 20 government and private workshops where 400 men produced rifles, pistols and munitions, most of the workers from the North or foreign-born, all of them, however, called ‘foreigners’ by the local people...




    Brown and two of his sons, Owen, 34 and Oliver, 20, and veteran Jayhawker Jeremiah G. Anderson, 26, arrived in the Maryland-Virginia border area near the Potomac River on July 3 1859. Anderson was the grandson of a slaveholding family. However he had vowed to “make this land of liberty and equality shake to the center.”




    They were greeted by John P. Cook, one of Brown’s ‘soldiers’ who had been assigned to move to the area and gather as much information as he could. Cook had been spying in and around Harper’s Ferry for about a year when his commander arrived.




    The old man rented a homestead – known then and now as Kennedy Farm – for $35 in gold, the main house located about 100 yards off the main road between Harper’s Ferry and Boonesborough and Sharpsburg, Maryland. He told everyone his name was Isaac Smith and that he was hoping to do some mining in the nearby mountains or that he was planning to raise cattle.




    Over the next several months his followers arrived, singly and in twos and threes. To avoid suspicion, he sent for two of his daughters-in-law from the family home in North Elba, New York.




    They aided inestimably in keeping suspicion in the area to a minimum. (The women were sent back home well before the raid.)




    Brown issued strict orders that his men were not to congregate out-of-doors in a group that might be seen by neighbors and arouse suspicions. The abolitionist soldiers stayed inside during the long Summer days, stretching their legs only at night.




    Survivors said later they always rejoiced whenever there was a thunderstorm – then they could not only go outside, but make noise if they wanted to.




    On July 10, Brown wrote his lieutenant, John Kagi, at Chambersburg, Pennsylvania, the ‘army’s’ ammunition dump, to send the ‘freight’ – and to come himself, along with any more men who were with him. The ‘freight’ consisted of 200 Sharps rifles, 200 pistols, and 1,000 pikes. (Brown had the idea that illiterate slaves might not be immediately able to get familiar with firearms.)




    On August 6 Watson Brown, 24, arrived with two of his North Elba, New York neighbors, brothers William and Dauphin Thompson. William was 26, Dauphin 20, both dedicated abolitionists. Then, shortly afterward, came Aaron Stevens and Charles Tidd, both 25, early Iowa recruits to Brown’s cause, followed quickly by Albert Hazlitt, 23, an old Kansas guerrilla fighter, Stewart Taylor, a Canadian youth looking for adventure, and Edwin and Barclay Coppoc, two Iowa brothers, Edwin 24 and Barclay 20.




    William H. Leeman, 20, arrived at the farm at the end of August. He was a ‘Liberty Guards’ veteran from Kansas. He wrote his mother,


    





    “We are determined to strike for freedom...”


    





    Next was Dangerfield Newby, the former slave whose wife and child were still held in bondage. As time crawled by on the Kennedy Farm, he would read and re-read a letter she had sent him: “Buy me and the baby, who has just started to crawl, as soon as possible, for if you do not get me, someone else will...”




    “Emperor” Shields Green, 23, an escaped slave from Charleston, joined at Chambersburg in mid-August, where Brown had gone to explain his plan and seek help from the famed orator, journalist, and writer Frederick Douglass, Brown’s longtime friend. (Some historians say the meeting was also attended by Harriet Tubman – “Moses” to her people, the famous black abolitionist leader.)




    But Douglass, who had once known the life of a slave himself, refused to help, telling Brown he was heading into a trap.




    He also said Brown’s planned actions might alienate the very people the abolitionist movement relied on for help and funding.




    As Brown and Douglass parted, Douglass turned to Green, who had been listening and asked what he thought. “I believe I’ll go wit’ de ole man,” said Green.3




    Osborn P. “Chatham” Anderson, the delegate from the mysterious black militant organization based in Canada, also headed South at this time.




    Brown kept delaying the action, hoping that more men would come to join him.




    Finally, on the night of October 15 1859, 22-year-old Francis J. Merriam and two black men from Ohio, John Copeland and Lewis S. Leary, both 25, arrived at Kennedy Farm. The “Army of the North” was all present and accounted for.




    There were 22 men in all, including Cook and “Captain” Brown. The old man called them all together and told them they would strike the next night.




    The following day, a Sunday, was unbearable, the men fidgeting under their enforced idleness and silence. Brown held a religious service in the morning, then left the men to their own thoughts for the rest of the day. At 8 pm he called them together. “Men get on your arms. We will proceed,” he said.




    Three of them were left behind to guard the base at Kennedy Farm: Owen Brown, who had a crippled arm; Francis Merriam, who had lost an eye; and Barclay Coppoc, who looked like a grade-schooler.




    Brown had begun to split his force.




    The rest sallied forth to the Potomac Bridge – and immortality, Brown driving a horse and wagon loaded with tools he thought they might need and a few weapons, the men marching behind, their brand-new Sharps rifles covered by gray shawls as per the captain’s orders.




    At 10:30 pm the men reached the Baltimore & Ohio Railroad bridge leading into Harper’s Ferry, a long, wooden, covered span.




    Entering it, they met a watchman carrying a lantern, whom they took prisoner. Two of the men were then ordered to stay on the Maryland side of the river as rearguard. Brown was continuing to split his force in the face of his soon-to-be enemy.




    The raiders burst into the sleepy town.




    Brown headed for the US Armory, where thousands upon thousands of weapons were stored. A night watchman came out of his guard shack in the firehouse just inside the grounds to see what was going on.




    A muffled voice ordered him to open the gate. He refused. One of Brown’s men took a crowbar out of the wagon and twisted the locked chain until it broke. To the two watchmen, now his prisoners, Brown said, “I come here from Kansas, and this is a slave state; I want to free all the Negroes in this state; I have possession now of the United States Armory, and if the citizens interfere with me, I must only burn the town and have blood.”4




    Now the old man continued to divide his force, sending Oliver Brown and William Thompson to watch the Shenandoah Bridge, and Hazlett and Edwin Coppoc into the Arsenal itself. Stevens took some of the other raiders to Hall’s Rifle Works Factory on Lower Hall Island, where the watchman there was also captured.




    Stevens left Kagi and Copeland on guard at the Rifle Works – Leary later joined them there. Then Stevens took the watchman and a few pedestrians he surprised on the street back to the Armory.




    About midnight, another security guard, lantern-bearing Irishman Patrick Higgins, arrived at the far end of the railroad bridge.




    Finding the structure dark and no one on duty there, he called out. Taylor and Watson Brown took him captive and began escorting him across the bridge and into town.




    But Higgins suddenly planted his feet and bashed Brown as hard as he could in the face with the burning lantern, then bolted toward the town. Taylor fired at him, the slug grazing his head.




    Higgins reached the Wager House Hotel and Bar safely. The first shot had been fired, and the alarm was raised.




    Also at about this hour, Stevens led some of the raiders on a mission to capture Colonel Lewis W. Washington, the great-grandnephew of George Washington, who lived about five miles west of town.




    Everyone in the area knew the colonel owned a pistol given to his famous relative by the Marquis de Lafayette and a sword presented to America’s first president by Prussia’s King Frederick the Great.




    Brown wanted these symbolic weapons, often shown by the genial colonel to anyone who stopped by his home asking to see them. One recent visitor had been Brown’s plant, John Cook.




    Stevens, Tidd, Cook, Anderson, Leary, and Green, dragged Washington from his bed.




    The colonel surrendered the famous arms, got dressed and stepped into his carriage for the trip into town. The raiders and Washington’s three slaves then shoehorned themselves into Washington’s four-horse farm wagon and followed.




    En route to town, the raiders stopped at the home of another slave-owner, John Allstadt, near Bolivar Heights just outside of town.




    Allstadt and his 18-year-old son were forced into the wagon, his four slaves ordered to march along behind it.




    At l:25 am, a passenger train bound east for Baltimore was stopped outside of town by a clerk from the Wager House who told Conductor A. J. Phelps that raiders bent on freeing the slaves had captured the town. Phelps sent two men out to investigate and they were turned back at gunpoint by Brown’s men.




    Shepherd Heyward, the station’s baggage master, heard the arguing voices and stepped outside to see what was going on. As he approached the railroad bridge, a raider told him to halt. Instead, Heyward turned on his heel and began to run back to the station. A shot rang out and he fell, gravely wounded. Heyward was much-respected in the town, a popular man with many friends. He was a free Negro.




    He dragged himself back to the station where he hung onto life for several hours before dying early the next afternoon. Thus the first man killed in Brown’s campaign to free the Negroes was in fact a free black man.




    Not long before dawn, the caravan carrying Washington and the other captives arrived at the Armory.




    Brown shoved pikes into the hands of the astounded slaves and told them to guard the prisoners. He cordially greeted Colonel Washington upon his arrival at the Armory at about 3:30 am, strapped the famed sword to his waist, escorted the colonel to a roaring fire and told him it was important that ‘one of your name’ should witness the course of the raid.




    At this early hour in the morning, Brown sent some of his men back across the railroad bridge to reconnoiter at an abandoned schoolhouse halfway between Kennedy Farm and the Ferry. Of these men, only Leeman returned to the town. First light found Brown’s force hopelessly scattered between Virginia and Maryland, the holding force at the Ferry further divided in separate buildings...




    Now people began showing up for work at the Armory. As they arrived, Brown took them prisoner. Soon he had close to 50 people milling about in the two small rooms of the fire-engine house just inside the Armory’s gate. Just before dawn, he separated them, keeping 11 he felt to be ‘prominent’ nearby in case of negotiations, crowding the rest into a back room.




    As the sun came up, local physician Dr. John Starry, who had gotten the story from his patient Shepherd Heyward, sent messengers to Charles Town and Shepherdstown to alert the local militia companies there.




    He ordered the town’s Lutheran Church bell to be rung to alert the citizens, asking them to bring their weapons to the station to counter Brown’s men. People turned out, but only a few shotguns and rusty muskets appeared among them.




    Brown, surprisingly, allowed the passenger train to resume its trip just after sunup, exacting a promise of silence from Conductor Phelps. However Phelps stopped the train in Monocacy, Maryland shortly after 7 am and telegraphed the electrifying news to the world, outlining what he knew of Brown’s men and their mission. “They say they have come to free the slaves, and intend to do it.”




    At around 7 am, some townspeople found an arms cache in a building overlooked by Brown’s men and started taking pot-shots at the Armory.




    Citizen Alexander Kelly, brandishing a shotgun, moved to the corner of High and Shenandoah Streets about 100 yards from the Armory. Before he could fire, a flurry of shots spattered the street corner around him, holing his hat. He thought better of it and ran away.




    Next, town grocer Thomas Boerly came to the same spot and got off a few shots at a group of men huddled in the Arsenal yard just across the street from the Armory. A single raider bullet came back in response, dropping Boerly with a wound from which he soon died.




    Brown, in keeping with his original plan to load all the weapons and ammunition he and his men could carry, then move quickly to the Blue Ridge, hadn’t brought food with the raiding party.




    He now traded captive Walter Kemp, a Wager House bartender, for 45 breakfasts, which for the most part remained untouched, raider and hostage alike feeling the food had been drugged or poisoned.




    Kagi, still guarding the Rifle Works, began sending urgent messages to Brown, demanding the raiders leave the Ferry while they still could. Brown ignored him. He had already compounded his earlier error of dividing his forces in the face of his enemy. Now he abandoned his battle plan. To this day, no one knows why. Until noon of the 17th, the raiders could more than likely have fought their way out of town, whereupon the world would soon have heard Brown’s rallying-cry calling the slaves of the South to his side in the Blue Ridge. Instead, for some reason, the raiders sat around, talking, doing nothing.




    Two companies of militia from Charles Town arrived around noon. They had come by train, leaving the cars just outside of town and splitting up, some approaching from the western town limits, others moving across the railroad bridge, easily driving off Brown’s bridge watch, Oliver Brown, William Thompson and ex-slave Dangerfield Newby, chasing the three raiders back toward town. As the three ran, Newby was killed with a six-inch bolt fired from a smoothbore musket.




    He was the first raider to die. A townsman stepped forward and cut off his ears. Then hogs were brought in to root on his body.




    More Charles Town Guards moved in and took up positions in buildings across the street from the Armory and at the Gault House Saloon at the rear of the Arsenal, a spot which controlled the Shenandoah Bridge.




    Now Brown was cut off from any escape route and totally separated from his men still in Maryland and from the small force under Kagi at the rifle factory.




    Brown asked for a truce. He sent William Thompson and captive Rezin Cross outside under a white flag to negotiate. The townspeople ignored the white flag, captured Thompson and took him under guard to the Wager House.




    But Brown was undaunted. Next he sent Watson Brown and Aaron Stevens out with Acting Armory Superintendent A.M. Kitzmiller, also under a white flag. As the men marched out into the street and approached the Gault House, there were shots. Both raiders dropped. Watson Brown, terribly wounded, dragged himself back into the engine-house. A prisoner by the name of Joseph Brua volunteered to help Stevens. He walked down the street as shots flew off the paving stones, picked up Stevens and took him to the Wager House.




    Then, unbelievably, Brua calmly sauntered back to the engine-house and again took his place among the prisoners.




    While this was going on, William Leeman tried to escape. He ran through the upper end of the Armory yard and plunged into the Potomac, shallow in this area, and pushed for the Maryland side.




    A hail of bullets whipped the water to froth around him. He cowered behind a rocky outcrop in the river.




    A local man, G.A. Schoppert, waded out to him, pulled a pistol, aimed it at the boy’s head, and pulled the trigger. Leeman slumped dead across the boulders. After that, shooters in the town used his body for target practice.




    At 2 pm, a shot fired from the armory killed townsman George W. Turner, a popular man and a well-to-do area farmer. Next, Harper’s Ferry Mayor Fontaine Beckham, who was also the town stationmaster and had been good friends with Shepherd Hayward, walked out onto the tracks running behind the engine house where the raiders were holed up to see what he could see. Edwin Coppoc raised his rifle and fired. Beckham fell, a bullet in his heart. Beckham owned five slaves. A provision in his will freed them upon his death. These were the first slaves freed by John Brown’s men.




    Oliver Brown moved to Coppoc’s side, raising his rifle to shoot at a man who had run out onto the tracks to Beckham’s aid, but before he could pull the trigger, he was gut-shot by a townsman and dropped to the engine-house floor, writhing in pain.




    At this point, the mob, enraged, fell upon captured raider William Thompson. They pulled him out of the Wager House, took him to the railroad bridge over the Potomac, and shot him, using his body for target practice as it lay tossing in the current of the shallows. Finally, filled with lead and riddled with holes, Thompson’s body sank in the shallows, a look of stark horror on the face, which stared up eerily from the clear waters...




    Now the three raiders occupying the Rifle Works made their break. John Kagi, Lewis Leary, and John Copeland bolted from the rear of the building, scrambled across the Winchester & Potomac Railroad tracks and hit the shallows of the Shenandoah River, running.




    The raiders sought cover at a large rock poking up out of the water, but townspeople on the opposite shore opened fire. Kagi was killed immediately.




    Leary took a mortal wound, and Copeland reached the rock, only to be captured and dragged to shore, where the crowd’s chant was “Lynch him!” But Dr. Starry held them back and Copeland was hustled away to the town jail.




    About 2 pm, with sporadic shots still bouncing about all over town, another militia company arrived by train from Martinsburg, Virginia, commanded by Captain E.G. Alburtis.




    These men, most of them railroad employees, marched immediately on the engine-house. Brown’s men came outside to meet them, but brisk fire drove the raiders back inside. Eight militiamen were wounded in this attack. Now more and more militiamen began to arrive by train. Most just stayed out of range or shot from cover near the engine-house or mingled in (and drank) with the local people.




    Across the Potomac, the rest of Brown’s force, Cook, Owen Brown, Barclay Coppoc, Meriam, Tidd, and some of the Negro raiders had been moving supplies to the small deserted schoolhouse in the hills between the Kennedy Farm and the town. As firing continued, they began to suspect that something had gone wrong. At 4 pm, Cook climbed a tree at the top of Maryland Heights and looked down into the town. He immediately saw that his fellow raiders were surrounded. He raised his rifle and fired into the buildings along High Street that faced the Armory.




    A flurry of return bullets slammed into his position, sawing off his tree limb and tossing him down the cliff-face. He limped back to the schoolhouse and told his companions what he had seen.




    They gathered their goods, climbed the low mountains and moved out, heading North...




    As twilight approached, firing died. Brown again tried to negotiate, offering to release his hostages if he and his men were allowed to march away unmolested.




    Colonel R.W. Taylor, now commanding the Virginia militia, refused, saying that if Brown immediately released the hostages, he would let the raiders live and go to trial.




    Brown rejected this idea. He and his men settled down to a long, restless night. There had been no food or water since the untouched breakfast. Only five raiders at the engine-house were unwounded and able to fight, including Brown, J. G. Anderson, Shields Green, Dauphin Thompson and Edwin Coppoc. Both of Brown’s sons lay, moaning in pain, dying at his feet on the engine-house floor.




    During the evening, every arms stash in town was thrown open and anyone who wanted a weapon was invited to take one along with all the ammunition he could carry.




    The bars at the Wager and Gault Houses were thrown open, and it was ‘drinks on the house’ for any man opposed to John Brown’s Rebellion. It was at this time that two of Brown’s men escaped.




    Late that night, Albert Hazlett and Osborn P. “Chatham” Anderson crept out of the Arsenal, mingled with the drunken crowds, crossed the Potomac to Maryland and fled North.




    At about 11 pm that night a detachment of US Marines from the Washington Navy Yard, led by US Army Colonel Robert E. Lee, marched into town. Lee had been relaxing at his Arlington, Virginia home when Lieutenant J. E. B. Stuart brought him orders to come to Washington immediately.




    President Buchanan personally advised Lee of the uprising and assigned him the only troops readily available, the 90-man Marine unit from the Navy Yard under Lieutenant Israel Green. Stuart accompanied the force, both army officers dressed in civilian clothes, no time being allowed to them to don uniforms.




    At 7 am, under a white flag, Stuart took Lee’s written surrender demand to the door of the engine house.
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      LAST STRONGHOLD:


      Some say the war began here.


    




    It was refused. Stuart lifted his hat, the signal for the Marines to advance. They had been told to use only their bayonets for fear of accidentally shooting a hostage.




    They broke down the door with a heavy ladder they found nearby. It took awhile. Brown had cleverly tied the door loosely, so that it would give under pressure. Finally, a hole was punched in the wood at the bottom of the door.




    When a large enough opening was forced, Marines began rushing through. One was killed, one seriously wounded. As the Marines’ company commander, Lieutenant Israel Green – who later became a high-ranking Confederate officer – moved cautiously down through the rows of fire engines, Washington greeted him cordially and pointed at Brown. “This is Pottawatomie Brown,” he said softly.




    “Now, men, fire!” shouted Brown. At point-blank range, the two sides exchanged a volley.




    Then Green raised his sword (a dress version, dull-edged and meant for show only and not combat) and brought it down several times with all his strength. It opened deep wounds in the old man’s head and neck.




    Green lunged forward, trying to run Brown through, an effort that bent the dull blade double when it snagged on the old man’s cartridge box, finally opening a jagged hole in Brown’s midriff.




    Green then began beating the old man mercilessly with the flat of the blade. (Some contemporary depictions show him holding the blade and beating Brown with the hilt-end.) A US Marine stepped up to Brown’s side as he sagged to the floor, trying to cover the body of Watson, his dying son, and gave the old abolitionist two quick, vicious bayonet thrusts in the side...




    The final fight lasted three minutes. All the dead, dying and wounded raiders were taken out and laid side by side on the grass. Finally Brown and Stevens, still bleeding from their wounds, were taken to the paymaster’s office and interrogated for about three hours, questioners including Virginia Governor Henry A. Wise, (later to become a Confederate ‘political general,’) Senator James M. Mason, and Ohio Congressman Clement Valladigham, later to be expelled from the United States as a notorious Copperhead (Southern sympathizer) by President Lincoln.




    During this session, Brown told Wise, “there is an eternity behind, and an eternity before, and the little speck in the middle is but comparatively a minute.” He also said:...”you had better – all you people at the South – prepare yourselves for a settlement of that question that must come up for settlement sooner than you are prepared for it. The sooner you are prepared, the better. You may dispose of me very easily; I am very nearly disposed of now; but this question is still unsettled – this Negro question, I mean – the end of that is not yet.”5




    Brown’s trial began in State Court October 27, the verdict a foregone conclusion.
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      THE SLAVE TRADE:


      African slaves rounded up. John Brown’s raiders fought to end slavery in the United States.


    




    Among the charges was treason against the state of Virginia, though Brown had never resided there. The old fanatic was hanged shortly before noon December 2.




    Among the witnesses were Thomas J. Jackson (later “Stonewall”) then a college professor, actor John Wilkes Booth, who had cadged a Virginia militia uniform and mingled in with the troops present, and the ardent longtime secessionist demagogue, Virginia agronomist Edmund Ruffin. Everyone agreed that John Brown died the death of a brave man.




    It hadn’t really been Old John Brown on trial, but slavery. And slavery lost. Brown’s motley army fired the first shots of the Civil War (some historians say the initial shots of the conflict were fired on the wide plains of Kansas in the 1850’s). Brown’s attack at the US Armory was the sledgehammer that drove a massive wedge into the heart of an already badly divided nation.




    After Brown was hanged, America spun dizzily, precipitously out of control, driving sideways toward the great, fratricidal war that was coming.




    Following the raid, the Southerners began to mobilize, slowly at first, then with rapidity and finality. Here was a Northern man, financed by Northern money, come to their doorstep to foment slave rebellion, to entreat their trusted servants and retainers to murder them in their beds if possible. More would come.




    New military companies were formed, old ones re-activated, intensive drilling began, flags were sewn by sweethearts and wives, new uniforms ordered, officers named. Vigilance committees were set up all over the Cotton States, night patrols started or stepped up in heavy slave areas, suspicious strangers stopped upon arrival in towns and questioned as to their purposes. Recruiting posters appeared all over the South, shooting practice was increased, slave laws tightened. Soon it would be the Southerners themselves seizing armories, passing out weapons...




    The year 1860 brought with it presidential elections. In early November Abraham Lincoln was named the nation’s 16th president with less than 40 percent of the vote.




    On December 20, South Carolina seceded from the Union, six more states quickly following her lead. In early February 1861, Alabama proposed that the newly-seceded states form a separate nation – a Confederacy.




    Then the world’s attention began to focus on a manmade island in Charleston Harbor 3.3 miles from the “Holy City,” a lump made from quarry-tailings from the New England states and brought down on barges over the years, a squat, ugly unfinished brick pile. People called it “Sumter.”
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